RECEIVED

12-22-2017

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2017AP0001968-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DION LASHAY BYRD,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction Entered in Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable Dennis R. Cimpl, Presiding

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

PAMELA MOORSHEAD Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1017490

Office of the State Public Defender 735 N. Water Street, Suite 912 Milwaukee, WI 53202-4116 (414) 227-4805 moorsheadp@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Did the circuit court violate Mr. Byrd's Fifth Amendment Privilege against self-incrimination at sentencing when the court repeatedly demanded that Mr. Byrd admit guilt and explain why he committed the crime and, when he would not do so, concluded that prison was necessary because he showed "absolutely no remorse?"
- 2. Did the circuit court erroneously exercise its discretion at sentencing when it concluded that a maximum sentence was warranted for Mr. Byrd based not on the particular facts of this case, but on the court's disagreement with the statutory maximum penalty for the offense set by the legislature?

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Publication is not warranted as this case, which involves the application of well-settled law to a unique set of facts.

While undersigned counsel anticipates the parties' briefs will sufficiently address the issues raised, the opportunity to present oral argument is welcomed if this court would find it helpful.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Mr. Byrd was convicted of one count of bomb scare in violation of Wis. Stat. §947.015. The charge arose when Mr. Byrd made a phone call to the local Fox6 News station stating that there was a bomb in the building. The phone call was

easily traced to Mr. Byrd, who was living with his mother. (R. 1).

Despite the iron-clad case against Mr. Byrd, he insisted on a trial. The trial was brief. At sentencing the State, noting the need for general and specific deterrence in this kind of case and the possibility that Mr. Byrd had mental health issues, recommended "a period of incarceration . . . coupled with some sort of supervision."(R. 77: 10-11). Defense counsel recommended probation.

Mr. Byrd's attorney opined: "I think a case like this screams something else is going on here." (R. 77: 16). He advised the court that Mr. Byrd had told him that he had been diagnosed with schizophrenia and bipolar disorder. The court inquired, "Did you check that out?" Defense counsel responded, "I did not check that out because I just learned of it today." (R: 77: 16). The court asked, "So all we have is his word for it?" Defense counsel responded, "Absolutely." Counsel then repeated that "on a case like this something else must be going on." (R. 77: 16).

At trial, no evidence was presented suggesting Mr. Byrd had any particular animosity toward Fox6News or any possible motive for the offense. At sentencing, defense counsel advised the court that Mr. Byrd would not be explaining why he committed the offense, as Mr. Byrd intended to appeal his conviction and counsel had instructed him not to comment on the offense in order to preserve his appellate rights. (R. 77: 11). Nonetheless, when Mr. Byrd commenced his allocution, he spoke only two sentences before the court interrupted, demanding to know why he had committed the crime. The exchange was as follows:

DEFENDANT: Yes. I want to let you know that I am not a terrorist to society. I am not a threat to society.

THE COURT: Then why did you do this?

(R. 77: 17). Defense counsel attempted to intervene, but the court continued to question Mr. Byrd:

MR. MEYER: Your Honor -

THE COURT: Wait a second. He has the right to talk. If he exercises that right, I got the right to ask questions. Why did you do this?

DEFENDANT: Your Honor, actually, I really can't answer it, sir.

THE COURT: What do you mean you can't answer it? I mean, what you told the cops is that you butt-dialed, and there must of been a television program on that made the bomb threat. We know that is false because of what Ms. Simonovich testified to. She got the phone call and she was told there is a bomb in the building. She said, excuse me? And it was repeated. There is a bomb in the building. Who is this? Hang up. You know damn well that it wasn't a butt-dial. It wasn't somebody on TV. It was a real live human being that made this call. The jury found beyond a reasonable doubt that you are the guy that made the call. I want to know, the people in authority of Channel Six want to know, the district attorney wants to know why the hell would you do this?

(R. 77: 17-18). In the following exchange, Mr. Byrd referred to defense counsel's instructions that he not discuss the offense, and commented that the offense was not in his character:

DEFENDANT: Your Honor, actually, to really be honest with you –

THE COURT: I hope so.

DEFENDANT: My attorney mentioned with you, a little bit too much to lose to even engage into

THE COURT: Okay.

DEFENDANT: You know, to engage into anything. You know, that is really not my character.

THE COURT: Fine. What do you want to say?

DEFENDANT: That is really not me, your Honor.

(R. 77: 18). The court took this as a denial of guiltand responded this way:

THE COURT: What do you mean it is not you? The jury found it was you. I heard the evidence. I am convinced beyond a reasonable doubt. I am 100 percent certain you made that call. Your mother was 100 percent certain that you made that call when she testified. So it was you. Don't tell me it wasn't me. What else do you want to say?

DEFENDANT: I apologize to the courts.

THE COURT: What are you apologizing for? You didn't do anything wrong.

DEFENDANT: Just for being here and putting, you know, my mother through this situation, and, you know, FOX6 or what not, just having people here, period.

THE COURT: Why would you apologize? You didn't do anything wrong, according to you. You are a good character. You didn't do anything. You didn't do this. So if you didn't do it, then you wouldn't apologize, right? That is logical.

DEFENDANT:I wouldn't of went to trial, your Honor.

THE COURT: You went to trial and lost big time. You know what the jury told me? Why did this go to trial?

That was the first question the jury asked me. I said because he has a Constitutional Right to a trial. So the jury was 100 percent certain that you did this. What else do you want to say?

DEFENDANT: If I can get a second chance in society, I can prove my worthiness. I can walk up straight and walk right, and that you will not see me back in your courtroom.

(R. 77: 18-20).

The court discussed the financial losses to Fox6 News and the fear that the employees experienced as a result of the offense, which the court connected to the seriousness of the offense and the need to protect the public. (R. 77: 21). The court then moved on to Mr. Byrd's character, saying "I know nothing about you. Your lawyer says that you have had some mental illness. I don't know that. Your mom testified to some of that in the trial." (R. 77: 21). The court discussed Mr. Byrd's previous domestic violence charges, saying "You have gotten off because people don't show up in court. I suspect one of the reasons you took this to trial is you figured nobody would come to court and testify against you. You were wrong." (R. 77: 21).

The judge then opined that it was "shocking" that a bomb scare was only a Class I felony. The court called this "ridiculous," saying that the offense "is one of the most serious felonies that I know of." (R. 77: 21-22). The court discussed the need for general deterrence, particularly given the current prevalence of terrorist threats and acts. (R. 77: 22).

The court then said:

So, yeah, you're going to prison. You are going to be on extended supervision. It is the only way to get the message out that we, as a community, will not tolerate

this stuff. Especially from somebody that shows absolutely no remorse.

(R. 77: 22). The court sentenced Mr. Byrd to the maximum prison term. The court found him ineligible for programming "given the terrible nature of this crime." (R. 77: 23).

Regarding the possibility that Mr. Byrd was mentally ill, the court said "we will find out if you got some mental health problems. They will take care of it in prison. Because, obviously, you haven't taken care of it up until now." (R. 77: 23). Mr. Byrd was received at Dodge Correctional Institution and was promptly moved to the Wisconsin Resource Center, which is described on its web site as "a specialized mental health facility established as a prison under s. 406.056, Wisconsin Statutes."

Defense counsel timely filed a Notice of Intent to Pursue Postconviction Relief. Undersigned counsel was appointed to represent Mr. Byrd. In the course of representing Mr. Byrd, undersigned counsel ordered copies of his mental health treatment records. Counsel enlisted the aid of Client Services Specialist, Justin Heim, to review and interpret the records. Mr. Heim prepared a report based on the treatment records indicating that Mr. Byrd has been seriously mentally ill dating back to May 2007, when at age 21 he had his first psychotic break and went to the Milwaukee County Mental Health Complex seeking treatment. Records reflect that Mr. Byrd has been on and off psychotropic medications since that time. (R. 33).

Mr. Byrd filed a motion for postconviction relief on July 14, 2016 arguing that he was entitled to resentencing because the circuit court violated Due Process and his Fifth

¹ This is reflected in the movement records on the Department of Corrections website.

Amendment privilege against self-incrimination during the sentencing by demanding that Mr. Byrd admit and explain his offense and then considering his refusal to do so as an aggravating factor. Mr. Byrd also argued that if the court did not grant resentencing, the new information about his mental health history was a new factor that warranted sentence modification. (R. 31).

The circuit court held a hearing on December 1, 2016. At that time, the court denied Mr. Byrd's motion for resentencing based on the Fifth Amendment issue, saying:

I don't find that I violated his right to maintain innocence at sentencing. I acknowledged on a number of occasions, at least twice, that he had the right not to tell me anything. But he then started making statements, and I responded by asking him appropriate questions, which I'm allowed to do. At any time, he could have said I don't want to answer those questions. He didn't. He answered some of them. He answered --he didn't answer them all.

(R. 78: 3). Regarding his consideration of Mr. Byrd's failure to express remorse, the judge said:

I made a throwaway line at the end that he, in fact, did not express remorse, and he didn't. But I really did not rely on that in my sentence in this case materially in any way. It was something that I mentioned at the end because it was a fact, and I'm allowed to mention that he had no remorse.

(R. 78: 3). There was some confusion over the distinction between resentencing and sentence modification. At the start of the hearing the court said:

I'm prepared based on your submissions to rule on it. And I'll tip you guys off, I'm going – I'm going to resentence, okay? Mainly, because I think that third factor, the mental health, you know, I knew about it, but I didn't know to what extent. And I really think in retrospect what I should of done was put off sentencing and ordered the defense attorney to get the mental health records that Ms. Moorshead got. So on that reason, I'm going to resentence.

When the judge said "I want to set another (R. 78: 3). sentencing," defense counsel explained that the first two issues raised in the postconviction motion requested resentencing as a remedy, and that the court had denied those claims. Defense counsel explained that the third issue, related to the mental health records was "raised as just a motion to modify his sentence." The court acknowledged this but then subsequently announced the next court date "for resentencing." The judge then corrected himself, saying "Not – Well, it's to modify the sentence technically." (R. 78: 7-8).

However, on the next date, the question of resentencing versus sentence modification resurfaced in the following exchange:

THE COURT: It's here for resentencing because Ms. Moorshead correctly pointed out in the file under seal the number of mental health records which tells me a lot more about Mr. Byrd than I knew when I originally sentenced him on December 10, 2015.

DEFENSE COUNSEL: Your Honor, I'm sorry. Can I interrupt just briefly?

THE COURT: Yeah.

DEFENSE COUNSEL: The last time we were in court we sort of sorted out that the motion I filed had two components, a resentencing request and also a sentence modification request. At that time the Court denied a resentencing and indicated the Court was going to grant the sentence modification.

THE COURT: I'm sorry. If I did, I misspoke. What I want to do is I want to resentence it now that I know everything. It's basically the same thing, you know, because you can argue for something less than the three and a half years I gave him, which would be a modification because I gave him the maximum, right?

DEFENSE COUNSEL: Right.

THE COURT: So if I didn't give the maximum, I'd agree with you, then it would have been a modification rather than a resentencing, but I think it's just cleaner if we do a resentencing because I gave him the maximum.

DEFENSE COUNSEL: It's probably a distinction without a real difference.

THE COURT: In this case it is.

DEFENSE COUNSEL: Okay.

THE COURT: But in the normal case – because rarely does a defendant get the maximum. All right, so the State's ready to go?

(R.79: 2-3). The State reminded the judge of his belief, expressed at the original sentencing, that the maximum sentence set by the legislature for this offense is "ridiculous." (R. 79: 5; R. 77: 21-22). The State agreed with that assessment and said the original sentence was "consistent with that concern." (R. 79: 5). The State discussed the need for general deterrence and the impact of the crime on the news station. The State asked the court to "leave the sentence as set." (R. 79: 6).

Defense counsel addressed the court's disdain for the maximum penalty set by the legislature, saying "the maximum penalty is what it is," and asserted that the question was whether a maximum sentence was warranted, given what the court now knew about "Mr. Byrd's longstanding struggle

with really serious debilitating mental health problems." (R. 79: 7). Defense counsel said "I just think if this Court had been presented with this information, I just can't believe for a second that the maximum sentence would have happened." (R. 79: 10).

The court invited comment from Mr. Byrd, who said he wished to apologize to the court and indicated that the medication he was taking was working well for him. (R. 79: 10). The judge told Mr. Byrd the date of the offense and then inquired "Do you recall making a phone call then or are you still in denial?" Mr. Byrd responded "I was so hallucinatal (sic) around that time where I just really can't recall that." (R. 79: 11). The judge said "I can understand now why you don't recall it -- okay? – and I was pretty harsh with you in my sentencing remarks because I didn't know the severity of your mental illness."

The judge acknowledged Mr. Byrd's "serious mental illness." The judge said, "but the question is does that outweigh all the other things I said to you back in 2015 when I sentenced you?" (R. 79: at 11). The court listed the three principal sentencing factors, and then noted:

I didn't have your character component when I sentenced you. I've got it now. But everything I said about the serious nature of the crime and the need to protect the public still goes. I read my sentencing transcript. I adopt every word that I said.

(R. 79: 11-12) (emphasis added). The judge reiterated that he was "shocked" that the crime did not carry a stiffer penalty. (R. 79: 12). The judge then re-imposed the maximum sentence. (R. 79: 13).

The court entered a new judgment of conviction on December 15, 2016, (R. 50) and amended the judgment to

correct a clerical error on December 16, 2016. (R. 52). Mr. Byrd filed a notice of appeal (R. 54), but determined that a postconviction motion seeking resentencing was again necessary to preserve the appellate issues. Mr. Byrd voluntarily dismissed the appeal, and this Court granted him an extension of time to file another postconviction motion. (R. 60).

In the new postconviction motion, Mr. Byrd again argued that the court had violated his Fifth Amendment privilege by demanding that he admit guilt at sentencing and that the violation was not remedied by the nominal "resentencing" hearing the court had held. He also argued that the court erroneously exercised its discretion at the "Resentencing" when he imposed the maximum prison sentence based on his belief that the statutory maximum set by the legislature was inadequate to address bomb scare offenses. (R. 60). The circuit court denied that motion the day after it was filed. (R. 61).

This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

I. The Sentencing Court Violated Mr. Byrd's Constitutional Right to Due Process and His Fifth Amendment Privilege Against Self-Incrimination When It Demanded that Mr. Byrd Admit To and Explain the Offense and, When He Would Not Do So, Concluded that Prison Was Necessary Because He Showed "Absolutely No Remorse."

It is improper for a sentencing court to impose a harsher sentence because after a finding of guilt, the defendant refuses to admit guilt. *Scales v. State*, 64 Wis. 2d 485, 495, 219 N.W.2d 286 (1974), citing *Finger v. State*, 40 Wis.2d 103, 161 N.W.2d 272 (1968), *Gregory v. State*, 63 Wis. 2d 754, 218 N.W.2d 319 (1974). After Mr. Byrd was found guilty, he had the right to appeal and could not constitutionally be compelled to admit guilt or be punished for refusing to do so. *Scales*, 64 Wis. 2d at 495-96,, citing *Thomas v. United States*, 368 F.2d 941 (5th Cir. 1966). In other words, he could not be compelled to pay a judicially imposed penalty for exercising his constitutionally guaranteed Fifth Amendment privilege against self-incrimination. *Id*.

In *Scales*, the sentencing court told the defendant that until he acknowledged responsibility for his crime, probation was not in order, and efforts at rehabilitation would "come to naught." The court concluded that for this reason it could "do nothing but order [Scales'] incarceration." *Id.* at 495. The Wisconsin Supreme Court found that the sentencing judge failed to exercise proper discretion, as the court's reliance on the defendant's refusal to admit guilt was "coercive and in derogation of Scales' Fifth Amendment rights." *Id.*, at 495-96.

As in *Scales*, here the sentencing court similarly abridged Mr. Byrd's Fifth Amendment rights by improperly relying on his refusal to admit guilt. At Mr. Byrd's original sentencing, defense counsel expressly told the court that Mr. Byrd would not explain the offense because counsel had advised against discussing the crime in order to preserve Mr. Byrd's right to appeal. The court, however, believed that Mr. Byrd's exercise of his right to allocution entitled it to attempt to coerce an admission of guilt from him. ("He has the right to talk. If he exercises that right, I got the right to ask questions. Why did you do this?"). (R. 77: 17). This was incorrect. The court repeatedly demanded that Mr. Byrd explain why he committed the crime, which would necessarily have required him to admit guilt. Then, when he refused to do so, the court concluded that prison was necessary, largely because Mr. Byrd showed "absolutely no remorse." (R. 77: 22). This was improper.

The Wisconsin Supreme Court has explained:

We have, on numerous occasions, held that a posttrial confession of guilt and an expression of remorse may be considered in mitigation of a sentence. State v. Tew (1972), 54 Wis.2d 361, 195 N.W.2d 615; McCleary v. State (1971), 49 Wis.2d 263, 182 N.W.2d 512. From these cases, the state argues that, if remorse may be used in mitigation, lack of remorse may properly be considered in sentencing. We do not agree. The rights against self-incrimination discussed in Thomas are based upon the founding fathers' fear of governmental coercion. The Bill of Rights confers no rights upon the state, but limits the power of the state. The exercise of the right against self-incrimination is a one-way street. If the defendant exercises that right, he may not be penalized for it, even after a jury's determination of guilt. On the other hand, in the expectation of leniency, he may waive that right and acknowledge his guilt and express his contrition and remorse. A trial judge may,

but he need not, take into consideration such expressions as indicative of the likelihood that the rehabilitory process hoped for in the criminal law has commenced; but where, as here, the defendant refuses to admit his guilt, that fact alone cannot be used to justify incarceration rather than probation.

Scales, 64 Wis. 2d at 496.

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