RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 03-08-2018

COURT OF APPEAL SCLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2017AP1968-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DION LASHAY BYRD,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE DENNIS R. CIMPL, PRESIDING

PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

DONALD V. LATORRACA Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1011251

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

A circuit court erroneously exercises its sentencing discretion when it relies on inaccurate information or an improper factor. State v. Alexander, 2015 WI 6, ¶ 17, 360 Wis. 2d 292, 858 N.W.2d 662. This Court uses a two-step whether framework to determine the circuit erroneously exercised its discretion based on inaccurate information or an improper factor. Id. ¶¶ 17–18. First, it must decide whether the information was inaccurate or an improper factor. Second, it must decide whether the circuit court actually relied on inaccurate information or the improper factor. Id. "A defendant bears the burden of proving, by clear and convincing evidence, that the [circuit] court actually relied on irrelevant or improper factors." Id. ¶ 17.

B. The circuit court properly exercised its discretion when it resentenced Byrd.

The circuit court properly exercised its discretion when it resentenced Byrd. In arriving at its sentence, the circuit court stated that it considered the serious nature of Byrd's crime, the need to protect the public, and Byrd's character when it assessed the goals of punishment, deterrence, rehabilitation, and restitution. (R. 79:11.)

With respect to Byrd's character, the circuit court readily acknowledged that Byrd had serious mental illness issues. (R. 79:11–12.) It recognized that Byrd's mental health records told it "a lot more about Mr. Byrd than I knew when I originally sentenced him." (R. 79:2.) When the circuit court asked Byrd if he recalled making the telephone call, Byrd responded that he was "so hallucinatal [sic] around that time where I just really can't recall that." (R. 79:11.) Unlike the first sentencing hearing when the circuit court challenged Byrd's comments (R. 77:17–18), the circuit court accepted Byrd's answer and asked Byrd why he did not get treatment (R. 79:11). Byrd candidly responded,

"I just thought I can carry this out on my own, but I see I can't." (R. 79:11.)

With a better understanding of Byrd's character, the circuit court then addressed whether this information changed its sentencing calculus. (R. 79:11.) It reaffirmed its original sentencing comments regarding the seriousness of the crime. While acknowledging the severity of Byrd's mental illness, the circuit court noted that Byrd's crime scared people. It noted its effect on the editor who took the bomb threat. "And I recall sitting in the courtroom and how she was shaking when she was testifying. She was that scared." (R. 79:12.) In its order denying postconviction relief, it noted the station president's comment that Byrd's threat "terrorized" the station's employees. (R. 61:5; 77:3.)

The circuit court also noted the impact that the bomb threat had on the station's operations. (R. 79:12.) Witnesses testified at trial that the bomb threat disrupted the station's operations. Employees were evacuated from the building and other employees were told not to report to work. (R. 75:99–101.) At sentencing, the station president noted the disruption to station's operations, including the evacuation of guests who were there for programming. (R. 77:3–4.) Both a manager and the station president testified that Byrd's threat could have affected the station's ability to perform its public safety function of providing information to the public about emergencies. (R. 75:110; 77:5.)

The circuit court also considered general deterrence. "A message has to be sent to people that you can't call in bomb scares to the television stations" and other institutions "without some consequences." (R. 79:12.) At the initial sentencing hearing, the station president expressed concern regarding the need to make sure that potential copycats understand that there are penalties for making bomb scares. (R. 77:6.) The station president believed that the maximum penalty was appropriate. (R. 24:1.)

The circuit court determined that the additional information that it had received about Byrd's character would not change its sentence. (R. 79:12.) As the circuit court later explained, it based Byrd's sentence on "the seriousness of the defendant's conduct and the massive consequences it had for the victim and its employees." (R. 61:5.) While acknowledging Byrd's mental health issues, the circuit court determined that "the need for punishment and strong deterrence so far outweighed that factor that the court determined that only a maximum sentence was sufficient to achieve those sentencing goals." (R. 61:5.)

Because the circuit court fashioned an individualized sentence based on considerations relevant to Byrd's case, the circuit court properly exercised its sentencing discretion.

C. Byrd has not demonstrated that the circuit court relied on an improper factor when it sentenced him.

Byrd contends that the circuit court's "belief that the legislature provided an inadequate punishment" for making a bomb threat drove its sentencing determination. (Byrd's Br. 19.) As a result, he asserts that the circuit court relied on an improper sentencing consideration and erroneously exercised its sentencing discretion. (Byrd's Br. 19.) But Byrd has failed to demonstrate that the circuit court's comment about the penalties for bomb threats constituted an improper factor, much less one that it actually relied on when it sentenced him.

The circuit court's observation regarding the laxness of the penalties for making a bomb threat did not run afoul of its obligation "to find rationality in legislative enactments where possible" and to reserve maximum sentences for an "aggravated breach of the statutes." See McCleary v. State, 49 Wis. 2d 263, 275, 182 N.W.2d 512 (1971). A circuit court's observation that a penalty scheme does not

adequately reflect the potential seriousness of a particular crime does not transform its observation into an improper factor. But even if it did, the circuit court's opinion is not a factor that it actually relied on when it sentenced Byrd.

The circuit court explained that its general comments about the penalty classification for making a bomb threat did not play a role in its decision to impose the maximum sentence. (R. 61:4–5.) As the circuit court explained, it tailored its sentencing decision to the individual sentencing factors in Byrd's case. (R. 61:4.) In Byrd's case, the "seriousness" of Byrd's crime and "the massive consequences it had for the victim and its employees" drove the circuit court's sentencing decision. (R. 61:5.) Indeed, as the State noted in the preceding section, the circuit court's sentence the product of an individualized was sentencing determination that considered Byrd's character, the seriousness of the crime, and the need to deter others from engaging in this conduct.

On this record, Byrd has failed to demonstrate by clear and convincing evidence that the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion by actually relying on its general opinion about the classification of the bomb threat crime when it sentenced Byrd.

- II. Byrd failed to prove that the circuit court actually relied on improper information, i.e., Byrd's allegedly compelled statements during the first sentencing hearing, when it resentenced Byrd.
 - A. The circuit court did not actually rely on Byrd's allegedly compelled statements when it resentenced him.

"The Fifth Amendment privilege against self-incrimination continues after a plea and through sentencing." *Alexander*, 360 Wis. 2d 292, ¶ 24. "[A] circuit

court employs an improper factor in sentencing if it actually relies on compelled statements" *Id.* (e.g., compelled statement to a probation agent).

As the State argued in Section I.B. above, the circuit court properly exercised its sentencing discretion when it resentenced Byrd. It based its second sentence primarily on the seriousness of Byrd's offense, the need to protect the public, and general deterrence rather than his character. (R. 79:11–13.) Thus, even assuming that the circuit court compelled Byrd to make a statement at his first sentencing hearing, he has not proved by clear and convincing evidence that the circuit court actually relied on Byrd's compelled statements when it resentenced him.

At the original sentencing hearing, the circuit court suggested that Byrd showed "absolutely no remorse." (R. 77:22.) Even assuming that the circuit court's assessment of Byrd's remorsefulness was based on his allegedly compelled statements, Byrd cannot show the circuit court's prior assessment of his remorsefulness played a role when it resentenced him. To the contrary, at the resentencing hearing, the circuit court acknowledged that it now had access to information about Byrd's mental health that it did not have when it first sentenced him. (R. 79:2.) The circuit court agreed that Byrd had a serious mental illness. (R. 79:11.)

Further, the circuit court's questioning of Byrd about his crime was substantively different at the resentencing hearing.² At the first sentencing hearing, Byrd made statements that apparently led the circuit court to believe that Byrd denied making the threat and did not accept

² Byrd exercised his right of allocution at the resentencing hearing and did not object to the questions that the circuit court posed to Byrd. (R. 79:10–11.)

responsibility for his conduct. (R. 77:17–19.) In contrast, at the resentencing hearing, the circuit court did not challenge Byrd's assertion that he could not recall making a threat because of his hallucinations. (R. 79:11.) The circuit court and Byrd then candidly discussed Byrd's failure to get treatment. Byrd acknowledged, "I just thought I can carry this out on my own, but I see I can't." (R. 79:11.) The circuit court later explained, "I can understand now why you don't recall it . . . I was pretty harsh with you in my sentencing remarks because I didn't know the severity of your mental illness." (R. 79:12.)

The circuit court's comments reflect its understanding that Byrd's inability to recall making the threat was the product of Byrd's mental illness rather than unwillingness to accept responsibility. The circuit court simply did not rely on Byrd's allegedly compelled statements from the first sentencing hearing when it resentenced him. The circuit court's comments at the resentencing hearing and in its decision denying postconviction relief reflect that the circuit court relied on proper sentencing factors at Byrd's resentencing. These factors included the seriousness of the offense, the need to protect the public, and general deterrence. (R. 61:2; 79:12.)

Based on this record, Byrd has not proved that the circuit court actually relied on an improper factor when it resentenced him.

B. Byrd's arguments notwithstanding, the circuit court did not rely on his prior statements when it resentenced him.

Without citation to authority, Byrd asserts that the resentencing did not remedy the circuit court's prior violation of Byrd's Fifth Amendment rights because the circuit court never acknowledged that it compelled Byrd to make statements at the first sentencing hearing. (Byrd's

Br. 17.) This Court should decline to consider this argument because Byrd did not support it by reference to legal authority. See State v. Pettit, 171 Wis. 2d 627, 646, 492 N.W.2d 633 (Ct. App. 1992).

Further, whether the circuit court acknowledged that it violated Byrd's privilege against self-incrimination is not the standard that this Court applies when it considers whether the circuit court relied on an improper factor when it imposed a sentence. Rather, this Court must determine whether the factor is an improper factor and whether the circuit court actually relied on it. *Alexander*, 360 Wis. 2d 292, ¶¶ 18–19. And as the State argued in the preceding section, Byrd has failed to clearly and convincingly prove that the circuit court actually relied on the allegedly improper factor when it resentenced him.

Relying on State v. Wood, 2007 WI App 190, 305 Wis. 2d 133, 728 N.W. 2d 81, Byrd also suggests that the circuit court erred when it granted resentencing rather than sentence modification based on the additional mental health information. (Byrd's Br. 16–17.) While a motion for sentence modification and a motion for resentencing are different, Wood, 305 Wis. 2d 133, ¶¶ 5–6, this Court need not address this argument. First, because Byrd received the maximum sentence, Byrd's postconviction counsel acknowledged that the distinction between the two motions was "probably a distinction without a real difference." (R. 79:3.) Second, before this Court, Byrd "acknowledges that it is arguable that he received the remedy he sought—resentencing—for the Fifth Amendment violation." (Byrd's Br. 17.) Based on Court need not this record. this address whether resentencing was a proper remedy. But if it is inclined to do so, then the State relies on the circuit court's reasoning that it applied when it denied this postconviction claim. (R. 61:3– 4.)

III. Because Byrd waived the privilege against selfincrimination by exercising his right of allocution, the circuit court's questioning of Byrd did not infringe on his Fifth Amendment rights.

A. General legal principles.

Standard of review. Whether the circuit court violated Byrd's "constitutional right against self-incrimination presents a question of constitutional fact." State v. Sahs, 2013 WI 51, ¶ 40, 347 Wis. 2d 641, 832 N.W.2d 80. When this Court reviews a question of constitutional fact, it will uphold the circuit court's findings of historical fact unless they are clearly erroneous. This Court applies the "constitutional principles independently of the circuit court . . . but benefitting from [its] analys[i]s. Id.

The privilege against self-incrimination. "Both the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution and article I, section 8 of the Wisconsin Constitution provide that a person may not be compelled in any criminal case to be a witness against himself or herself." State v. Peebles, 2010 WI App 156, ¶ 10, 330 Wis. 2d 243, 792 N.W.2d 212. Wisconsin courts have normally construed the right against self-incrimination under the Wisconsin Constitution consistent with the Supreme Court's interpretation of the federal right. State v. Stevens, 2012 WI 97, ¶ 40, 343 Wis. 2d 157, 822 N.W.2d 79.

"The Fifth Amendment privilege against selfincrimination continues after a plea and through sentencing." Alexander, 360 Wis. 2d 292, ¶ 24. A circuit court may not impose a harsher sentence because a defendant asserts his Fifth Amendment right and refuses to admit guilt after a guilty finding. Scales v. State, 64 Wis. 2d 485, 495, 219 N.W.2d 286 (1974). "If the defendant exercises that right, he may not be penalized for it, even after a jury's

determination of guilt." *Id.* at 496. The supreme court reasoned that when a defendant is sentence following a trial, the defendant retains the right to appeal and "could not be compelled to pay a price for the retention of his Fifth Amendment rights." *Id.* While a circuit court may not compel a defendant to admit guilt, it may still consider the defendant's remorse, repentance, and cooperativeness when it exercises its sentencing discretion. *Williams v. State*, 79 Wis. 2d 235, 239, 255 N.W.2d 504 (1977).

The right of allocution at sentencing. A defendant has a statutory right of allocution before the circuit court pronounces a sentence. Wis. Stat. § 972.14(2). The right of allocution includes the right "to make a statement with respect to any matter relevant to the sentence." *Id.* The supreme court has recognized that the right to allocution is a due process right afforded to a defendant at sentencing. *State v. Borrell*, 167 Wis. 2d 749, 482 N.W.2d 883 (1992), *but see State v. Greve*, 2004 WI 69, ¶¶ 29–34, 272 Wis. 2d 444, 681 N.W.2d 479 (plurality opinion questioning whether right of allocution is merely a statutory right).

The waiver of the privilege against self-incrimination and sentencing allocution. A defendant may waive his privilege against self-incrimination by testifying about a matter. "[A] defendant who testifies is deemed to have waived the privilege, at least with respect to matters reasonably related to the subject matter of his direct examination, and the state is entitled to subject his testimony to adverse cross-examination." Neely v. State, 97 Wis. 2d 38, 49, 292 N.W.2d 859 (1980).

A defendant may waive his Fifth Amendment right at sentencing. "[I]n the expectation of leniency, [a defendant] may waive that right and acknowledge his guilt and express his contrition and remorse." *Scales*, 64 Wis. 2d at 496. As the Tenth Circuit has explained, "A defendant's choice to exercise his right to allocution, like the choice to exercise the

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